No. S241825

FILED

JUL 13 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

VINCENT E. SCHOLES

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

LAMBIRTH TRUCKING COMPANY,

Defendant and Respondent.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, No. C070770 Colusa County Superior Court No. CV23759

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Gerald Singleton (SBN 208783) Singleton Law Firm 115 West Plaza Street Solana Beach, CA 92075 Tel: (760) 697-1330

Fax: (760) 697-1339

Email: gerald@geraldsingleton.com

Martin N. Buchanan (SBN 124193) Law Offices of Martin N. Buchanan 655 West Broadway, Suite 1700 San Diego, CA 92101 Tel: (619) 238-2426

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Do the double and treble damages provisions of Civil Code section 3346, subdivision (a), for "wrongful injuries to timber, trees, or underwood," apply to damage caused by fires?

INTRODUCTION

Health & Safety Code sections 13007 and 13008 recognize liability for property damage caused by fire. Another statute, Civil Code section 3346, authorizes double or treble damages for negligently or intentionally inflicted injuries to trees. The question in this case is whether the Court of Appeal in *Kelly v. CB&I Constructors, Inc.* (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 442 correctly harmonized these statutes by ruling that a fire victim may recover: (1) actual damages for any type of fire damage to property *other than* trees; and (2) double or treble damages for negligently or intentionally inflicted fire damage to trees. (*Id.* at pp. 459-463.)

The answer is yes. By its plain language, Civil Code section 3346 authorizes double or treble damages for "wrongful injuries to timber, trees, or underwood upon the land of another." (Civ. Code, § 3346, subd. (a).) "Under any reasonable interpretation, fire damage constitutes an 'injur[y]' to a tree." (*Kelly*, *supra*, 179 Cal.App.4th at p. 463.) Nothing in Health & Safety Code sections 13007 and 13008—which merely codified common law principles of liability for fire damage to another's property—precludes imposition of double or treble damages for fire damage to trees under the more specific provisions of Civil Code section 3346. *Kelly* persuasively rejected the contrary holding of *Gould v. Madonna* (1970) 5 Cal.App.3d 404 on this issue, finding that *Gould* "essentially ignored the *best* indicator of the Legislature's intent: the plain language of the statutes." (*Kelly*,

supra, 179 Cal.App.4th at p. 462.) Thus, this Court should adopt the holding of Kelly and overrule the contrary holding of Gould.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

The Court of Appeal's statement of the Factual and Procedural Background is generally accurate. Accordingly, the following summary is taken directly from the Court of Appeal's opinion, with minor changes and citations to the record added.

A. The Fire

Since 2003, defendant Lambirth Trucking Co. ("Lambirth") has operated a soil amendment and enhancement company adjacent to plaintiff Vincent Scholes' real property. (AA 36, 53.) Lambirth's company grinds wood products and stores wood chips, sawdust, and rice hulls, the remnants of which sometimes blew onto Scholes' property. (AA 36, 53.)

On May 12, 2007, a fire broke out at Lambirth's operation. (AA 53.) In the aftermath, Scholes complained to Lambirth about wood chips and rice hulls piling up on his property. (AA 37.) In addition, local authorities warned Lambirth of the hazards presented by such storage. (AA 53.) In response, Lambirth began removing wood chips and rice hulls from Scholes' property. (AA 37.) Subsequently, on May 21, 2007, another fire broke out on Lambirth's property and spread to Scholes' property. (AA 38-41, 53.)

B. Original Complaint

Scholes filed his original complaint on May 21, 2010, three years after the fire. (AA 26-28.) The complaint named as defendants Lambirth and its insurer, Financial Pacific Insurance Company ("Financial Pacific"),

and stated it was for a "dispute compensation on insurance claim." (AA 28.) Scholes alleged "[d]efendants have accepted liability, dispute amount of damages from fire." (AA 28.) The complaint alleged Scholes lost use of his property and suffered general and property damages. (AA 28.)

C. First Amended Complaint

On January 24, 2011, Scholes filed a first amended complaint against Lambirth and Financial Pacific for damages to property and loss of crops. (AA 29-31.) In his complaint, Scholes sought compensation for property lost in the fire, loss of crops, and loss of use of property. (AA 31.) Scholes did not assert any additional causes of action in the form complaint. (AA 29-31.)

Lambirth and Financial Pacific filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings, arguing Scholes failed to state facts sufficient to state a cause of action. (1 AA 8.) The trial court granted the motion with leave to amend. (1 AA 9, 79.)

D. Second Amended Complaint

Scholes filed a second amended complaint on August 9, 2011, against "John Lambirth Trucking", Financial Pacific, and Financial Pacific's officers and directors. (AA 32-50A.) The second amended complaint alleged a cause of action against Lambirth for trespass, stating Lambirth provided no structures to contain the wood chips and rice hulls on its property, allowed wood chips and rice hulls to trespass on Scholes' property, and provided no water source to suppress "any fire that may ignite in or by said flammable materials." (AA 44.) According to the complaint, "But for the flammable materials from [Lambirth's] business operation that said defendant allowed to encroach and trespass upon [Scholes'] real

property, there would have been no fuel to ignite [Scholes'] personal property stored upon the real property on May 21, 2007." (AA 45.) In October 2011, Scholes agreed to dismiss with prejudice his action against Financial Pacific and its officers and directors. (AA 10.)

Lambirth demurred to the second amended complaint, arguing it was barred by the statute of limitations. The trial court sustained the demurrer with leave to amend. (AA 10, 80, 90.)

E. Third Amended Complaint

Subsequently, on November 15, 2011, Scholes filed a third amended complaint alleging three causes of action: general negligence, intentional trespass, and strict liability (trespass through unnatural activity). (AA 51-75.) The complaint stated that in 2003, Lambirth began operating a soil amendment and enhancement business adjacent to Scholes' property on which it stored wood chips, sawdust, rice hulls, and other combustible material. (AA 53.) The storage of combustible materials violated Civil Code section 1014 and was "unnatural." (AA 53, 55.) According to the complaint, on May 12, 2007, after the fire on Lambirth's property, fire authorities warned Lambirth of the hazards presented by its storage. (AA 53.)

Nine days later, on May 21, 2007, "a fire erupted at the storage site of said combustible materials of Defendant which Defendant failed to either control or suppress due to inadequate water supplies and other fire suppression equipment and inadequate manpower for such purposes which fire spread to the realty of Plaintiff and destroyed personal property, growing crops, and other growth," "motor vehicles," "other mechanical equipment," and "damaged and destroyed a walnut orchard." (AA 53.)

Scholes requested treble damages under Civil Code section 3346 and Code of Civil Procedure section 733 for the damage to the walnut orchard. (AA 52, 53.)

Lambirth filed a demurrer to the third amended complaint arguing it was barred by the statute of limitations and failed to state a viable claim for intentional trespass or strict liability. (AA 76-89.) In response, Scholes asserted a three-year statute of limitations applied to his cause of action for trespass, and the third amended complaint related back to the original complaint. (AA 89-95.)

The trial court sustained the demurrer without leave to amend and dismissed the action. (AA 1, 11, 13-17.) Following entry of judgment, Scholes filed a timely appeal. (AA 20.)

F. Court of Appeal's Opinion

In the Court of Appeal, Scholes argued that: (1) the third amended complaint was timely filed because it related back to his original complaint, which was filed within three years of the fire (AOB 5-7); and (2) his claim for damage to trees was subject to the five-year statute of limitations set forth in Civil Code section 3346, subdivision (c). (AOB 7.)

The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment. The court ruled that: (1) the three-year statute of limitations of Code of Civil Procedure section 338, subdivision (b) applied to all of Scholes' claims; (2) the amended complaints were untimely because they were filed more than three years after the fire and did not relate back to the original complaint; and (3) Civil Code section 3346 and its five-year statute of limitations for wrongful injuries to timber, trees, or underwood do not apply to fire damage. (Scholes v. Lambirth Trucking Co. (2017) 10 Cal.App.5th 590.)

In ruling that Civil Code section 3346 does not apply to fire damage to trees, the Court of Appeal relied on its own 1970 decision in *Gould*, *supra*, 5 Cal.App.3d at pp. 406-407. (*Scholes, supra*, 10 Cal.App.5th at pp. 601-602.) The Court of Appeal acknowledged that "the court in *Kelly v*. *CB&I Constructors, Inc.* (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 442 ... disagreed with our analysis in *Gould* and found that section 3346 does apply to fire damage to trees." (*Scholes, supra*, 10 Cal.App.5th at p. 602.) The Court of Appeal also acknowledged that "[t]he federal district court adopted *Kelly*'s analysis in *United States v. Sierra Pac. Industries* (E.D. Cal. 2012) 879 F. Supp. 2d 1096 [*Sierra Pacific*]." (*Id.* at p. 602, fn. 3.) However, the Court of Appeal concluded: "Despite *Kelly*'s disagreement with our analysis, *Gould* remains viable and controlling here." (*Id.* at p. 602.)

ARGUMENT

I. Civil Code Section 3346 Applies to Fire Damage to Trees

The Court of Appeal erred by following its own 1970 decision in *Gould* and rejecting the more recent and more persuasive authority in *Kelly*. Reading the relevant statutes together, and harmonizing their provisions, a fire victim may recover damages for any type of property damage suffered in the fire (Health & Saf. Code, §§ 13007, 13008), and may recover double or treble damages for fire damage to trees. (Civ. Code, § 3346.) Before demonstrating why *Kelly* was correctly decided, we begin by tracing the chronological history of the relevant statutes and case law.

A. Pre-1931 Statutes

Until they were repealed in 1931, Civil Code section 3346a (enacted in 1905) and Political Code section 3344 (enacted in 1872) both read as follows: "Every person negligently setting fire to his own woods, or

negligently suffering any fire to extend beyond his own land, is liable in treble damages to the party injured." (See Kennedy v. Minarets & W. Ry. Co. (1928) 90 Cal.App. 563, 580 [quoting statutes].) These statutes were not limited to property loss. Thus, they authorized treble damages for any injury suffered in the fire, including personal injury. (Haverstick v. Southern Pac. Co. (1934) 1 Cal.App.2d 605, 615-618.)

Since long before 1931, two other statutes have separately allowed treble damages for wrongful injuries to trees. Code of Civil Procedure section 733 (originally enacted in 1851) was incorporated into the Code of Civil Procedure in 1872. (Fulle v. Kanani (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th 1305, 1310.) Still on the books in the same form today, it states: "Any person who cuts down or carries off any wood or underwood, tree, or timber, or girdles or otherwise injures any tree or timber on the land of another person, or on the street or highway in front of any person's house, village, or city lot, or cultivated grounds; or on the commons or public grounds of any city or town, or on the street or highway in front thereof, without lawful authority, is liable to the owner of such land, or to such city or town, for treble the amount of damages which may be assessed therefor, in a civil action, in any Court having jurisdiction." (Code Civ. Proc., § 733.)

Civil Code section 3346 (enacted in 1872) was copied from a timber trespass statute in the New York Field Code. (Fulle, supra, 7 Cal.App.5th at p. 1310 & fn. 2.) Until 1957, Civil Code section 3346 read as follows: "For wrongful injuries to timber, trees, or underwood upon the land of another, or removal thereof, the measure of damages is three times such a sum as would compensate for the actual detriment, except where the trespass was casual and involuntary, or committed under the belief that the land belonged to the trespasser, or where the wood was taken by the

authority of highway officers for the purpose of a highway; in which cases the damages are a sum equal to the actual detriment." (Former Civ. Code, § 3346, repealed by Stats. 1957, ch. 2346, p. 4076.)

"Although neither section [Code Civ. Proc., § 733 or Civ. Code, § 3346] expressly so provides, it is now settled that to warrant such an award of treble damages it must be established that the wrongful act was willful and malicious." (Caldwell v. Walker (1963) 211 Cal.App.2d 758, 762, citing cases.) "The obvious purpose of [these] code sections is to protect trees and timber on private land." (Swall v. Anderson (1943) 60 Cal.App.2d 825, 828.)

B. 1931 Fire Liability Law

In 1931, the Legislature repealed former Civil Code section 3346a and former Political Code section 3344, and enacted the Fire Liability Law. (Stats. 1931, ch. 790, p. 1644.) Section 1 stated: "Any person who: (1) Personally or through another, and (2) Willfully, negligently, or in violation of law, commits any of the following acts: (1) Sets fire to, (2) Allows fire to be set to, (3) Allows a fire kindled by him to escape to the property, whether privately or publicly owned, of another, is liable to the owner of such property for the damages thereto caused by such fire." (*Ibid.*) Section 2 stated: "Any person who allows any fire burning upon his property to escape to the property, whether privately or publicly owned, of another, without exercising due diligence to control such fire, is liable to the owner of such property for the damages thereto caused by such fire." (*Ibid.*)

The 1931 Fire Liability Law did *not* repeal or amend the statutes allowing treble damages for wrongful injuries to trees. (Code Civ. Proc., § 733; Civ. Code, § 3346.)

C. 1953 Enactment of Health & Safety Code Sections 13007 and 13008

In 1953, the Legislature repealed the Fire Liability Law of 1931 and codified its provisions by adding Health & Safety Code sections 13007 and 13008. (Stats. 1953, ch. 48, pp. 682-683.) Section 13007 now provides: "Any person who personally or through another willfully, negligently, or in violation of law, sets fire to, allows fire to be set to, or allows a fire kindled or attended by him to escape to, the property of another, whether privately or publicly owned, is liable to the owner of such property for any damages to the property caused by the fire." (Health & Saf. Code, § 13007.) Section 13008 provides: "Any person who allows any fire burning upon his property to escape to the property of another, whether privately or publicly owned, without exercising due diligence to control such fire, is liable to the owner of such property for damages to the property caused by the fire." (Health & Saf. Code, § 13008.)

The 1953 enactments did not repeal or amend the statutes allowing treble damages for injuries to trees. (Code Civ. Proc., § 733; Civ. Code, § 3346.)

D. 1957 Repeal, Amendment, and Reenactment of Civil Code Section 3346

In 1957, the Legislature "repealed, amended, and reenacted" Civil Code section 3346. (*Fulle*, *supra*, 7 Cal.App.5th at p. 1311, citing Stats. 1957, ch. 2346, § 2, p. 4076.) The new version of section 3346 reenacted the original statutory language allowing treble damages, but added a new double damages provision, and also adopted a five-year statute of limitations.

Civil Code section 3346 now states in relevant part:

- For wrongful injuries to timber, trees, or underwood (a) upon the land of another, or removal thereof, the measure of damages is three times such sum as would compensate for the actual detriment, except that where the trespass was casual or involuntary, or that the defendant in any action brought under this section had probable cause to believe that the land on which the trespass was committed was his own or the land of the person in whose service or by whose direction the act was done, the measure of damages shall be twice the sum as would compensate for the actual detriment, and excepting further that where the wood was taken by authority of the highway officers for the purpose of repairing a public highway or bridge upon the land or adjoining it, in which case judgment shall only be given in a sum equal to the actual detriment....
- (c) Any action for the damages specified by subdivisions (a) and (b) of this section must be commenced within five years from the date of the trespass.

As interpreted by the courts, the treble-damages provision of section 3346 is discretionary and the double-damages provision is mandatory. (*Baker v. Ramirez* (1987) 190 Cal.App.3d 1123, 1138.) As a result, "[t]here are now three measures of damages applicable to the pertinent types of trespass: (1) for wilful and malicious trespass the court may impose treble damages but must impose double damages; (2) for casual and involuntary trespass, etc., the court must impose double damages; and (3) for trespass under authority actual damages." (*Drewry v. Welch* (1965) 236 Cal.App.2d 159, 181; accord *Salazar v. Matejcek* (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 634, 645, fn. 3.)

The availability of these statutory damages does not preclude an award of punitive damages for conduct covered by the statute. However, a

plaintiff cannot recover both punitive damages and multiple damages under section 3346 for the same conduct. (*Baker*, *supra*, 190 Cal.App.3d at p. 1138.)

E. 1970 Gould Decision

In 1970, the Third District concluded that the double-damages provision of Civil Code section 3346 does not apply to negligently caused fires, reasoning that fire damage is instead governed by Health & Safety Code sections 13007 and 13008. (Gould, supra, 5 Cal.App.3d at pp. 406-407.) Noting that the double-damages provision applies "where the trespass was casual or voluntary" (Civ. Code, § 3346, subd. (a)), Gould first questioned whether the negligent spreading of a fire even constitutes trespass. The court stated: "There is no California case in which section 3346 of the Civil Code has been applied to the negligent spreading of a fire, and we have found no case determining that such spreading is a trespass." (Gould, supra, 5 Cal.App.3d at p. 406.)

Gould also relied on what it referred to as the "statutory history" of these provisions. (Gould, supra, 5 Cal.App.3d at p. 407.) Without actually citing or referring to any legislative committee reports or other official legislative history, Gould concluded: "The statutory history of the sections ... demonstrates a legislative intention that only actual damages be recoverable for injury caused by negligently set fires. That history indicates that the Legislature has set up a statutory scheme concerning timber fires completely separate from the scheme to meet the situation of the cutting or other type of injury to timber." (Ibid.) Finding that the double damages provision of section 3346 was a penalty, the court further stated that "if the Legislature intended a penalty in connection with injury by fire, it would have placed it in the sections dealing with fires." (Id. at p. 408.)

Finally, *Gould* reasoned: "The normal use of Civil Code, section 3346 is in cases where timber has been cut from another's land, either with or without knowledge that the cutting was wrongful. It has been suggested that the purpose of the statute is to educate blunderers (persons who mistake boundary lines) and to discourage rogues (persons who ignore boundary lines), to protect timber from being cut by others than the owner." (*Gould*, *supra*, 5 Cal.App.3d at p. 408.) "We have found no indication anywhere that anyone has considered that the double damages provisions of section 3346 are applicable to fire damages caused by negligence." (*Ibid*.)

F. 1996 Elton Decision

In Elton v. Anheuser-Busch Beverage Group, Inc. (1996) 50
Cal.App.4th 1301, the Court of Appeal ruled that a negligent invasion by fire which causes damage to real property constitutes a trespass under California law. (Id. at pp. 1305-1307.) The court relied on prior California decisions holding that similar "intangible intrusions such as noise or vibrations may constitute a trespass if they cause physical damage." (Id. at p. 1307, citing cases.) The court also relied on decisions from other jurisdictions holding "that a fire can constitute a trespassory invasion." (Ibid., citing cases.)

G. 2009 Kelly Decision

In 2009, the Second Appellate District, Division Five, squarely rejected the holding of *Gould* and ruled that the double-damages provision of section 3346 *does* apply to tree damage from negligently caused fires. (*Kelly, supra*, 179 Cal.App.4th at pp. 459-463.) In a thorough discussion of the issue authored by the late Justice Richard Mosk, the court found that the trial court had properly doubled the damages awarded for injuries to trees

caused by a negligently sparked brush fire. (Ibid.)

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