S241825



SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP 1 8 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

IN THE

Deputy

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

VINCENT E. SCHOLES

Plaintiff and Appellant,

 ν .

LAMBIRTH TRUCKING COMPANY,

Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER AN PUBLISHED DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD APPELLATE DISTRICT, CASE NO. C070770 COLUAS COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE NO. CV23759

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Lynn A. Garcia (Bar No. 131196)

SPINELLI, DONALD & NOTT

815 S Street, Second Floor Sacramento, CA 95811 Telephone: (916) 448-7888

lynng@sdnlaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant/Respondent

LAMBIRTH TRUCKING COMPANY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

VINCENT E. SCHOLES

Plaintiff and Appellant,

 ν .

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

II. FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT.

Eight months after the original Complaint was filed, Appellant filed his First Amended Complaint ("FAC") for "Damage to Property and Loss of Crops." AA 029-031. Appellant indicated that he was seeking "Compensation for property lost in fire[,] loss of crops," and loss of use of property. AA 031. Emphasis added. No other facts were alleged. AA 031. On July 26, 2011, the trial court granted Lambirth's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings with leave to amend. Respondent's Appendix ("RA") 0096-0097.

III. SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT.

On August 9, 2011, more than 3 years after the fire, Appellant filed his SAC. AA 032-034. This SAC alleged that Lambirth had (1) provided no structures to contain the rice hulls and wood chips to Respondent's operation, (2) allowed the wood chips and rice hulls to encroach and trespass onto Appellant's property (AA 045, ¶¶ 67, 71),

and (3) provided no water source "to suppress any fire that may ignite in or by said flammable materials." AA 044, ¶ 70. "But for the flammable materials from [Respondent's] business operation that said defendant allowed to encroach and trespass upon [Appellant's] REAL PROPERTY, there would have been no fuel to ignite [Appellant's] personal property stored upon the REAL PROPERTY on May 21, 2007." AA 045, ¶ 72. Emphasis added.

On September 8, 2011, Lambirth demurred to the SAC on the ground the claims were barred by the statute of limitations.

RA 0098-0143, 0162-0170. On November 4, 2011, the trial court sustained the demurrer with leave to amend. RA 0172, ¶ 2.

IV. THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT.

On November 10, 2011, Appellant filed his TAC alleging three causes of action: (1) negligent trespass; (2) intentional trespass; and (3) strict liability (trespass through unnatural activity). AA 051-055. The Third Amended Complaint alleged that "[i]n 2003, [Respondent] ... began operating a soil amendment and enhancement business on realty adjacent to that of Plaintiff on which Defendant stored wood chips, sawdust, rice hulls, and other combustible material ..." AA 053, ¶ 1. Emphasis added.

A fire erupted in Lambirth's storage site on May 12, 2007, after which local fire authorities warned it of the hazards presented by its storage. AA 053, ¶ 2. Nine days later, on

May 21, 2007, a fire erupted at the storage site of said combustible materials of Defendant which Defendant failed to either control or suppress due to inadequate water supplies and other fire suppression equipment and

inadequate manpower for such purposes which fire spread to the realty of Plaintiff and destroyed personal property, growing crops, and other growth on said realty ..., motor vehicles, ... other mechanical equipment, [and] damaged and destroyed a walnut orchard. .. AA 053, ¶¶ 3, 5. Emphasis added.

Scholes' first cause of action, entitled general negligence, alleged negligent trespass, stating that the storage of the combustible materials violated various statutes including Civil Code §1014², and also referenced the fact that "said fire also damaged and destroyed a walnut orchard." Plaintiff's second cause of action, entitled "intentional tort," alleged that Lambirth consciously disregarded the risk of fire, thus intentionally trespassed on Plaintiff's land. AA 054, ¶ 2-3. Plaintiff's third cause of action, also entitled "intentional tort" alleged that because the storage of the combustible materials was "unnatural," Lambirth was strictly liable for his damages "under the common law doctrine of *Wintergreen v. Winterbottom*³." Plaintiff's prayer for damages included a request for all actual damages, treble damages pursuant to Civil Code §3346 and Code of Civil Procedure §733, and costs pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.9.

AA 053, ¶ 5.

² Civil Code §1014 relates to ownership of land formations on river banks. Thus, this reference does not make sense.

³ Lambirth has attempted to locate the case to which Scholes referred without any success. Moreover, the allegations in the TAC do not support a strict liability claim, but rather, are either irrelevant to such a claim or indicate that reasonable care would have ameliorated the risks posed by Lambirth's operation.

V. DEMURRER TO THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT GRANTED.

Lambirth filed a demurrer to the Third Amended Complaint in part based on the fact that it was barred by the applicable statute of limitations. AA 079-088; RA 0245-0248. Scholes opposed the demurrer on the ground that the Third Amended Complaint related back to the original Complaint and a three-year limitation period applied to his trespass action. AA 089-095. Neither party argued the viability of the claim being raised herein: that is, whether the reference to treble damages to trees growing on the burnt property entitled Scholes to benefit from the five-year statute of limitations set forth in Civil Code § 3346(c) for any part of his claims for trespass to real property. Instead, the main focus of the arguments was whether the doctrine of relation back rendered Scholes' claims timely, and whether the case was governed by a two-year statute of limitations or the 3-year statute provided in to Code of Civil Procedure § 338(b).

On January 10, 2012, the trial court sustained the demurrer and dismissed the action. RA 0251-0252. Thereafter a Judgment of Dismissal was entered. AA 017; RA 0254-0255.

VI. THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL AFFIRMS JUDGMENT.

Appellant appealed the trial court's decision to the Third District Court of Appeal. In his appeal, he argued that the TAC was timely filed because it related back to his original Complaint (Appellate's Opening Brief ("AOB") 5-7). He also argued *for the first time* that the

portion of his claim which was predicated on damages to his orchard was subject to the five-year statute set forth in Civil Code § 3346(c).

The court of appeal rejected Scholes' arguments, holding that (1) his claims were subject to the three-year statute of limitations in Code of Civil Procedure § 338(b); and (2) that the TAC could not relate back to the original, factually devoid Complaint because

"the original complaint, devoid of actual allegations, fails to meet section 425.10, subdivision (a)'s minimal fact pleading requirement. The original complaint does not identify the property at issue or specifyy the damages suffered; it merely lists "loss of use of property" and "property damage". The complaint fails to specify the date, origin, or scope of the fire. The original complaint does not set forth the relationship between the parties or any duties owed to Scholes by Lambirth. Nor does the Original complaint specify any causes of action except for checking the box for "Property Damage". Nothing in the original complaint sets forth any factual basis for Scholes' subsequent claims for negligent trespass, intentional trespass, or unnatural activity trespass. It is impossible to even infer the nature of any dispute between Scholes and Lambirth."

Scholes v. Lambirth (2016) 10 Cal.App. 5th 590, 602. Accordingly, the court of appeal correctly held that the TAC was barred by the statute of limitations, and thereafter, affirmed the judgment of dismissal. This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

I. SCHOLES NEVER CLAIMED ENTITLEMENT TO A FIVE-YEAR LIMITATIONS PERIOD AT THE TRIAL COURT LEVEL.

The claim that Plaintiff is making before this court is not one which the trial court was ever asked to decide: although Scholes filed four different Complaints for the fire damage to his property, he did not plead a claim for a violation of Civil Code § 3346 in any of those four Complaints. Instead, the Complaints alleged only that Scholes had suffered various types of damages as a result of the fire which Lambirth had allowed to spread to Scholes' property. Even when the issue of the statute of limitations was initially raised in response to the TAC, Scholes still did not claim that the five-year statute of limitations in Civil Code § 3346(c) applied. Rather, he argued that the claim would be timely under the three year statute of limitations set forth in Code of Civil Procedure § 338(b)⁴. It was not until this argument failed, resulting in the dismissal of his case on the grounds of the statute of limitations, that Scholes claimed for the first time that Civil Code § 3346 rendered any part of his claim timely.

However, "[it]t is a well-established tenet of appellate jurisprudence that a litigant may not pursue one line of legal argument in the trial court, and having failed in that approach, pursue a different, and indeed, contradictory line of argument on appeal..." *Brandwein v. Butler* (2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 1485, 1519. This is exactly what

⁴ Scholes argued that the Third Amended Complaint should be deemed to relate back to his initial Complaint, thus rendering his claims timely under Code of Civil Procedure § 338(b).

Scholes has done. Thus, Scholes entire § 3346(c) argument should be disregarded by this court.

II. CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE § 338(b) PROVIDES THE CORRECT STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS.

The issue of damages has never been in issue in this case: the decision from which this Petition was taken was a dismissal of Scholes' claims on the grounds of the statute of limitations. Thus, the sole question this court must resolve is whether the court of appeal correctly determined that Code of Civil Procedure § 338(b) provides the statute of limitations applicable to Plaintiff's claims for fire trespass. As explained below, the gravamen of the facts and claims alleged is "[a]n action for ... injury to real property" (Code of Civil Procedure § 338(b)). Thus, the court of appeal's decision was correct and should be upheld.

A. THE GRAVAMEN OF THIS ACTION IS INJURYTO SCHOLES' REAL PROPERTY.

"To determine the statute of limitations which applies to a cause of action, it is necessary to identify the nature of the cause of action, i.e., the "gravamen" of the cause of action. [Citations.]" *Thomson v. Canyon* (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 594, 606. The gravamen of an action depends on the nature of the right sued upon or the principal purpose of the action. *Davies v. Krasna* (1975) 14 Cal.3d 502, 515. "[I]t is the underlying injury and not the legal theories of recovery superimposed on the injury that dictates the applicable statute of limitations.

[Citation.]" *McCoy v. Gustafson, supra*, 180 Cal.App.4th at p. 104.

Moreover, "[t]he nature of the cause of action and the primary right involved, not the form or label of the cause of action or the relief demanded, determine which statute of limitations applies." *Hensler v. City of Glendale* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 1, 22–23. Thus, in ruling upon the applicability of a statute of limitations, neither the caption, nor the prayer of a Complaint will conclusively determine the nature of the liability from which the cause of action flows. Instead, "the true nature of the action will be ascertained from the basic facts...." *H. Russell Taylor's Fire Prevention Service, Inc. v. Coca Cola Bottling Corp.* (1979) 99 Cal.App.3d 711, 717.

What is significant for statute of limitations purposes is the primary interest invaded by defendant's wrongful conduct. See *Richardson v. Allstate Ins. Co.* (1981) 117 Cal.App.3d 8, 11–13. The statute of limitations applicable to the gravamen of the case is applicable to the entire cause of action, regardless of the existence of other claims for which a different statute of limitations might otherwise apply. See *Ventura County Nat. Bank v. Macker* (1996) 49 Cal.App.4th 1528, 1531. As particularly relevant here, where negligent conduct has caused injury to real property, the gravamen of the cause of action is the injury to the real property. *McCoy v. Gustafson* (2009) 180 Cal.App.4th 56, 105. Real property consists of land, and that which is either affixed, incidental, or appurtenant to that land. Civil Code § 658. Emphasis added. As relevant to this case, trees which are attached to land by their roots are deemed affixed to land. Civil Code § 660. Emphasis added. Thus, the gravamen of

Scholes' claims, including those for fire damage to his growing trees, is a claim for injury to his real property.

Scholes ignores the above rules of law. Instead, his Petition appears to be predicated entirely upon the incorrect assumption that, in addition to his causes of action for trespass to his real property, the TAC contained a cause of action for "wrongful injury to trees," pursuant to Civil Code § 3346. However, the TAC did not allege facts sufficient to state a cause of action for wrongful injury to trees. Instead, it simply alleged that that Lambirth either negligently or intentionally allowed fire from his property to spread to Scholes' neighboring property, resulting in significant damage to that property and items located thereon, including damage to 12 walnut trees. Scholes then conclusory asserted in the prayer that Scholes is entitled to treble damages for the damage to the trees he had growing on his property at the time of the fire, along with a request for attorney fees pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.9. AA 053.

There were no allegations that Lambirth did anything directly to the trees themselves, but only that the trees were one of a lengthy list of items which were damaged as a result of the fire which escaped to Scholes' property. There are no allegations that Lambirth either entered onto Scholes' property to injure the trees, nor that he even gave any thought whatsoever to the trees located on that property.

Accordingly, the essence of Scholes' claims is real property trespass by fire, not wrongful injury to trees. Because the gravamen of the TAC is fire damage to Scholes' real property, the applicable statute of limitations is the three-year statute of limitations contained in Code of

Civil Procedure §338(b). Scholes' claim was not filed within that three-year period. Thus, both the trial court and the court of appeal correctly determined that his claims were barred by the statute of limitations.

B. THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR GROWING TREES WHICH ARE DAMAGED BY FIRE TRESPASS IS CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE §338(B).

Because Scholes is now claiming that his TAC contains a claim for wrongful injury to trees, a threshold question must be addressed in order to determine whether Scholes' claims were time barred: that is, whether the applicable statute of limitations to claims for trees which are damaged as part of a fire trespass is Code of Civil Procedure §338(b), which provides a maximum three-year limitations period for trespass or injury to real property, or Civil Code § 3346(c), which provides a limitations period of five-years for an action for damages based on "wrongful injury to" or "wrongful removal" of trees. As this Court has noted:

"[i]n seeking to determine which statute of limitations was intended to govern on facts such as those before us, our goal is to discern the probable intent of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the laws in question. [Citations.] We examine the statutes in their context and with other legislation on the same subject [citation]. If they conflict on a central element, we strive to harmonize them so as to give effect to each. If conflicting statutes cannot be reconciled, later enactments supersede earlier ones [citations] and more specific provisions take precedence over more general ones. [Citation.] Absent a compelling reason to do otherwise, we strive to construe each statute in accordance with its plain language."

Collection Bureau of San Jose v. Rumsey (2000) 24 Cal.4th 301, 309–310.

Following these guidelines, this Court must first examine the plain language and legislative purpose of the two statutes of limitations at issue. Such an examination demonstrates that the two statutes of limitation, Code of Civil Procedure § 338(b) and Civil Code § 3346(c) can be harmonized in this case. As set forth in Section II.A hereinabove, the Legislature specifically provided both (1) for a three-year statute of limitations for trespass to real property, and also (2) that trees which are damaged as a result of a trespass which damages the real property itself, are part of that real property. On the other hand, Civil Code § 3346 was intended to apply only to cases in which the injury was directed at the trees themselves. See *Fulle v*. *Kanani* (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th 1305, 1315. In this case, the tree damage was incidental to the real property damage. Thus, the court of appeal correctly determined that Scholes' claims in this case were barred by the statute of limitations.

III. THE LEGISLATURE INTENDED CHAPTER 1 OF DIVISION 12 OF THE HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE TO GOVERN THE SCOPE AND EXTENT OF LIABILITY FOR FIRE DAMAGE IN CALIFORNIA.

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